IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES ANDERSON,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
VS.)	CASE NO
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	
)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Broward County, Florida.

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

* RICHARD B. GREENE
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Florida Bar No. 265446
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

* Attorney for Charles Anderson

CERTIFICATION OF FONT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the lower court. The record volume will be referred to by Roman numeral. The page number will be referred to by Arabic numeral.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Anderson was indicted for first degree murder. He was found guilty as charged on February 11, 1999. III572. The jury recommended death by a vote of eight (8) to four (4). IV733. The trial judge sentenced Mr. Anderson to death. V933-56.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS - GUILT PHASE

This case involves the death of Keinya Smith. The primary issue at trial was identity. However, there also was a question as to the degree of the homicide. The State's entire case was circumstantial. Dana Turner said she heard loud arguing from the Anderson residence. XIII1014. She claimed that Mr. Anderson said "You told them something You told him. Why was he shooting at me?" XIII1017. She claimed that this was at 3-4 a.m. early on Saturday morning, January 15, 1994. XIII1017. She said "I don't know. He was just shooting. I didn't tell him nothing". XIII1017. The argument went on a few minutes. XIII1018.

John Gowdy, stated that on January 16, 1994 he was driving from Clewiston to Miami on U.S. 27. XIII1023. He saw a body on the side of the road soon after they entered Broward County. XIII1023. The body was in the grass median between the two lanes. XIII1024. It was about 7 p.m. and was very dark. XIII1024. Headlights would periodically illuminate the area. XIII1024. He saw the car in front of him make a U-turn and head back towards the body and he did the same thing. XIII1024-5. He saw the first car go into the

median and then get back into the lane. XIII1029. The car then left. XIII1029. Gowdy went to a gas station and then to a Florida Highway Patrol station. XIII1030.

Gowdy described the car as follows:

"The rear end I noticed had—it was some area reflected, bumper stickers on the bumper. Something like in the back window sill. I don't know if it was stuffed animals, hats, whatever." ...

The front end - this - this car had the bright lights on and - and I saw like all four of the lights illuminated, which was indicating it was like an older model car." XIII1032.

He could not tell the color of the car. XIII1033. He stated that "It was a darker bluish, grayish-grayish like color ... It was really dark grayish." XIII1033. He claims the headlights are like those of Mr. Anderson's car. XIII1034. He claims that the reflector on Mr. Anderson's car also appears similar. XIII1034. He said that the car was an older, American made car. XIII1034. could <u>not</u> identify Mr. Anderson's car. XIII1034. He left Clewiston about 7 p.m. XIII1038. When he had originally been shown a picture of Mr. Anderson's car he said "It wasn't dark like this. It wasn't dark at all like this here. To me it looked grayish like." XIII1039. He originally thought that this was an accident. XIII1047. He stated that he originally told the police that the car had a bumper sticker. XIII1048. He was then shown a picture of a reflector and said "I guess that could have been it". XIII1048. He's consistently said that he's "not sure" whether it is the car. What he saw is consistent with an accident or an intentional killing. XIII1051.

Thomas Cowart, of the Florida Highway Patrol (FHP) received a report of a body on U.S. 27, at about 7:30 p.m. on January 16,

1994. XIII1052. The area had two north bound lanes and two south bound with a sixty foot divided grass median area in between. XIII1055. XIII1055. He eventually saw a red spot on the inside pavement area and some clothing items, one of which was a Publix name tag with the name "Keinya" on it. XIII1057. There were two areas found and that he feels that the northbound one happened first. XIII1066.

George Jobes, stated that during the early morning of January 17, 1994 he and his sons found a body lying near the road in Holiday Park. XIII1069.

Kevin Vaughn, of the FHP, stated that finding clothing on both side of a roadway, ninety feet apart, is unusual in a traffic accident. XIV1151. FHP was told the car was last seen heading north. XIV1213. He claimed that the police theory was that the person "either thrown or pushed or jumped out of a car traveling northbound" and then was later run over in the median. XIV1228.

The following stipulation was read to the jury:

It has been stipulated between - between parties that Keinya Smith is dead. That she died on January 16, 1994. And that she died as a result of blunt force trauma inflicted by a motor vehicle.

It is further stipulated between parties that the items of evidence found on U.S. 27 by Lieutenant Vaughn and Detective Foley, including jewelry, blood stains, name tags and hair and scalp, originated from Keinya Smith.

XV1360-1361.

Mark Suchomel, of the BSO, participated in the search of Mr. Anderson's car 7-10 days after the incident. XV1383-4. He took impressions of the tires. XV1383-4. The right front tire was a general brand, Ameritech 4, and the other three were Remington Maxxum's. XV1385-6. He described the car.

It is a medium blue Cadillac, 1981 Cadillac, two door I believe it was. With a - not a half vinyl, but almost like a half stainless steel top with a partial vinyl top in dark blue, and the rest of the vehicle was dark blue with chrome trim along the sides along the bottom.

XV1392.

There appeared to be some damage underneath the radiator; the splash guard appeared to be cracked, and an area appeared to have been wiped. XV1394-5. He stated that the collection of grease and soil samples and sending them to the FBI was "a last ditch effort in this case". XVI1475.

Jose Tomas, records custodian for Publix, testified concerning Keinya Smith. On January 14, 1994 she clocked in at 4:00 p.m., out at 6:45 p.m., back in at 7:01 p.m., and out at 9:05 p.m. On January 16, 1994 she clocked in at 11:08 a.m., out at 3:05 p.m., back in at 3:35 p.m., and then out at 6:01 p.m. XVII487.

Officer Terry Gattis testified concerning the search of Mr. Anderson's car on January 24, 1994. XVI1491-3. The car was a blue 1981 Cadillac. XVI1493. He saw what looked like blood on the side of the front passenger's seat and on the arm rest between the two front seats. XVI1494. The Cadillac emblem was missing. XVI1495-6. The splash pan appeared to be cracked. XVI1504. He has no idea how the dents and scratches got there. XVI1522.

Officer Richard Walsh, of the Miami Dade Police Department, stated that a 911 call had been received from 19125 Northwest 37th Avenue in Miami at 1:05 a.m. on January 15, 1994 and the call was a hang up. XVII1568. A 911 operator called back and dispatched police to the house. XVII1571-3.

Patrick Allen testified that in January 1994, he was working as a bag boy at Publix and Keinya Smith worked at the same store.

XVII1578. They became friends and he gave her a ride home on January 12, 1994. XVII1579. She lived in north Dade at 191st and 37th Avenue. XVII579-80. After he dropped her off, he went north and saw a black Eldorado behind him. XVII1580. He claimed that the car followed him into his apartment complex. XVII1582. He went up to his apartment and then the car left. XVII1582.

On Friday, January 14, 1994 Keinya Smith got off at 9:05 p.m. and he gave her a ride. XVII1585. He had a handgun in his car. XVII1585. They went by his apartment, he went in and she did not. XVII1585. He took her home and the same black car was parked there and begins driving towards him and pushing him from behind. XVII1586. He claimed they got up to 85 miles an hour. XVII1587. He was steering with his left hand and shooting at the other car with his right. XVII1588. He shot his own car and eventually the other car stopped pushing him and he went home. XVII1589.

He came to work at a little before 6 p.m. on Sunday, January 16, 1994, right before Keinya Smith got off. XVIII590. He never complained to the police about being chased on January 12 or 14, 1994. XVIII591. He had previously stated on deposition that Keinya Smith had come up to his apartment and was now denying this. XVIII597. On January 12,1994 he saw two Miramar police officers that he knew and he told them nothing about being chased. XVIII603. He identified the car from photographs. XVIII604. He has never identified the driver. XVIII606-7.

In 1994, he told the police that he did not know who picked Keinya Smith up on the last night that she worked and that he did not see her leave. XVII1618. For the first time, in October, 1998 he claimed that he saw Mr. Anderson, in the black Eldorado on

Sunday, January 16, 1994. XVIII650. He did not see Ms. Smith get in the car, but saw her walking in that direction. XVIII648. His time card shows that he worked from 5:05 p.m. to 10:48 p.m. on Sunday, January 16, 1994. XVIII658.

Fred Boyd compared tire cast impressions taken at the scene where the body was found with the four tires on Mr. Anderson's car. XVIII687. Three of Mr. Anderson's tires were Remington's and one was a general tire. XVIII687-8. Of the four impressions that he compared; one could not have been made by Mr. Anderson's car, one could have been made by the car, and two were of no value. XVIII698. The tire cast that was consistent with Mr. Anderson's tire was consistent with the general tire and not the Remingtons. XVIII688. This is not a positive id, but it is consistent with the tire. XVIII709.

Jerry Robbins, an investigator for FHP, took a phone call from John Gowdy on January 19, 1994. XVII1717. His note says:

Mr. John Gowdy called and stated he saw a gray four door car. He said it was spinning its tires in the grass just after the victim was hit.

XVII1719.

James Gerhart stated that the grease marks on the green Publix jacket "could have been" made by two coils from underneath Mr. Anderson's car, but he can't say that they were. XVIII1737-9. He has no idea how many consistent coils are on the road. XVIII1743. Two of the coils from Mr. Anderson's car could not have made the impression. XVIII1742.

Officer Roy Cao, of the Miami-Dade Police Department, testified that he responded to a hang up 911 call from the home of Edwina Anderson, on January 15, 1994 at approximately 1:05 a.m.

XVIII1748. He and another officer approached the house, heard two people arguing and knocked on the door. XVIII1749. Charles and Edwina Anderson came to the door. XVIII1751. Edwina said there had been no physical contact that night. XVIII1758.

Officer Elias Thomasevich went to the scene were Keinya Smith was found on January 17, 1994. XVIII1761. On the same day he went to Edwina Anderson's house. XVIII1762-3. He spoke to Mr. Anderson:

Mr. Anderson did discuss - he said he didn't have any information about the homicide, but did discuss a boy that apparently had dropped her off a couple of times and that he had tried to ascertain who that boy was and that he had followed him on two occasions with his vehicle following his vehicle. Mentioned that his name was Patrick Allen...

- Q What other discussions did you have with the defendant, Mr. Anderson?
- A Well, he did discuss the fact that he had on the second occasion, apparently this boy that he had followed, I guess was trying to get away from him from the way he described it to me, and that the boy had shot at him, fired several rounds at his car or in his direction. He said that he did then come home and got into a verbal altercation with Keinya. And at one point he admitted that he slapped her, Keinya.

XVIII1769-1770.

Mr. Anderson allowed the police to search his car. XVIII1772-

3. He denied any knowledge of the death of Ms. Smith. XVIII1777.

Well, we continued to talk about the night that Keinya was missing. At one point I start to tell him that I believe he was in fact the one that picked her up. We continued on that, that line of speaking as far as my part. At one point he says "Okay, yeah", he says, "I picked her up but I didn't kill her." I then try to elaborate on that, try to get him to speak about that. And he immediately said that he was just being facetious.

XVIII1780-1781.

George Anderson, a cousin, was supposed to pick Keinya up on January 16, 1994. XVIII1791. He interviewed several Publix employees who worked on January 16, 1994, and none said they saw Mr. Anderson on that day. XVIII1791. He looked at Patrick Allen's car and saw no evidence of damage from another car. XVIII1793. However, he did see a bullet hole. XVIII1795.

Mr. Anderson consistently cooperated, never refused to answer any questions and freely consented to the search of his car. XVIII1799-1801. Patrick Allen told him that the reason he did not report the January 14th incident is that he was worried that "he would probably be arrested" for firing his gun. XVIII1807.

Andronda Brown is Keinya Smith's cousin and shared a room with her from October, 1993 until Keinya's death in January, 1994. XVIII1843-6. Mr. Anderson was there almost every day. XVIII1889. She claimed that about 1:30 a.m. on Saturday January 15, 1994 she heard a car screech and Keinya got out of the car and Mr. Anderson went after the car. XVIII1848-9. She claimed that Mr. Anderson came back five minutes later "screaming and shouting that the boy shoot at him." XVIII1849. Mr. Anderson hit Keinya one time. XVIII1851,78. She never saw any other violence in the time that she stayed there. XVIII1884. Keinya then went in the kitchen and got a knife. XVIII1852. She claimed that Mrs. Anderson was holding Mr. Anderson; Keinya said "let me call the police;" dialed 911 and then hung up. XVIII1853. The police called back and Charlene Anderson answered the phone and hung up when her mother told her to. XVIII1854. The police knocked on the front door and Mr. and Mrs. Anderson went to the door and spoke to them. XVIII1855. After the police left, Charles Anderson went to Keinya's locked bedroom door and "said that he's gonna wait in Publix for 24 hours. If he can't get Patrick, then he's coming after her." XVIII1857. He left. XVIII1859. Keinya went to work on Sunday, January 16, 1994. XVIII1859. Mrs. Anderson's car was broken for several weeks before Keinya's death. XVIII1862. Mr. Anderson treated Keinya and her the same. XVIII1869. Keinya normally came straight home from work and when she came home late on Friday January 14th both Mr. and Mrs. Anderson were very upset. XVIII1870.

Donna Marchese tested several sites in the car that were suspected to have blood, but most turned out to be negative. XIX1929-34. She got a positive presumptive test for blood on the green jacket and on the splash pan of the car, but could not get any DNA results. XIX1936-7. The presumptive test for blood is not specific for human blood, it can be animal blood. XIX1943. Blood off the car seat of Mr. Anderson's car matched the DNA profile of Keinya Smith. XIX1943. There is no way for a DNA test to date a blood sample. XIX1978. Dr. Martin Tracey stated that the chance of a random match 1 in 8.3 million in the Caucasian data base and 1 in 6.5 million in the African-American data base. XIX1993.

Bruce Ayala compared a fiber from the brake cable of Mr. Anderson's car with one from blue pants found at the scene. XIX2023-58. He stated that "the fiber from the brake cable could have come from the pants". XIX2054. He tested 12 other fibers from Mr. Anderson's car which did not match any item of clothing found at the scene. XIX2058.

Lisa White, who was Mr. Anderson's probation officer in Miami in 1994 testified that in November, 1992 he was placed on 10 years probation for attempted capital sexual battery on Keinya Smith and

that no contact with Ms. Smith was a condition of probation. XIX2061. On January 18, 1994 he reported to her and told her that Keinya Smith had recently died and then allegedly said "Since she is dead will this bring the family back together." XIX2061.

Amelia Stringer, stated that on January 16, 1994 she and her boyfriend, John, were driving south on U.S. 27 from Clewiston to Miami at about 7 p.m. XIX2071. He was driving and she was in the front passenger seat. XIX2072. He said he saw a person, so she sat up. XIX2073. He made a U-turn at the next turn. XIX2073. She saw a car in front of them making the same U-turn. XIX2073. She stated: "It was a dark car. It was either a gray, a black." XIX2074. The car in front made the U-turn and then they made the U-turn. XIX2075. She looked back and saw the person laying on the ground sit up. XIX2075. She saw the car in front run over the person and then got back into traffic. XIX2079. The car left and headed north on 27. XIX2077. They went to a gas station and then to a trooper station. XIX2077.

In her original police statement, the only description she could give of the car was that "it is a big dark car". XX2094. She never positively identified the car. XX2094. She was shown a picture of Mr. Anderson's car and said that "it could have been the car." XX2094. She claims that it was "a dark car and a similar shape and size." XX2097. She never said anything to the police about a reflector on a bumper. XX2106. She never said anything about the number of doors or headlights. XX2108-9. The State and defense rested and motions for judgment of acquittal were denied.

XX2111,2120-5. The jury returned a general verdict of first degree murder. XXI2348.

PENALTY PHASE FACTS

The State called the medical examiner, Dr. Joshua Perper. XXVIII2620. He described the injuries to Keinya Smith as follows:

A This young woman had numerous bruises and scratches on the body; both on the face, the front of the body, and on the back. And those were obviously a result of her being under some kind of motor vehicle, because those injuries were associated with grease, which is present under a car.

The person also had severe, both external and internal; laceration. There was a laceration of the back of the head, which you just saw in the photographs which were shown you. In addition to that, she had laceration of the front of the pelvic area....

A In addition to that, the deceased had received internal injury. She had fractures of the hips on both sides, both in the front, on the side, and in the back, which were in the - this was an indication that those were crushing injuries.

In addition to that, her most severe injury was her fracture of the neck in the area of the second vertebra. That is the second bony segment of the spine of the neck and the disk. This injury was associated with a fracture which most likely compressed and injured the spinal cord. that is the - that is the cord of nerves which emerges from the brain.

Those were basically - and there were in addition to that, pelvic fractures in the area of the lower body....

- Q Are those painful injuries?
- A If the person is is awake. Yes.

XVIII2625-7.

He stated that "the survival following the accident in this case was very short. Seconds to minutes at the most." XXVIII2632. Death would have taken 20 seconds to 3 minutes. XVIII2634-5.

Edwina Anderson testified that when she married Mr. Anderson in 1980, her daughter, Keinya, was 5 years old. XXVIII2643. Keinya was working at Publix in January, 1994. XVIII2644. She claimed that in 1990, Keinya claimed that Mr. Anderson had sex with her. XXVIII2645. She "monitored it." XXVIIII2646. She later confronted Mr. Anderson and he admitted it. XXVIII2646.

Q Did Keinya say that Charles Anderson would undress her?

A Yes.

Q Did Keinya tell you that Charles Anderson would forcibly pin her to the bed?

A Yes.

Q Did she tell you that he inserted his penis inside her vagina on several occasions?

A Yes.

Q Did Keinya tell you that he would also perform oral sex on her by licking her vagina?

A Yes.

Q Did Keinya tell you that she tried to resist, but Mr. Anderson would over power her and hold her down?

A Yes.

XXVIII2646-2647.

Charles Anderson lived with her, Keinya, the other three children, and her niece in January, 1994. XXVIII2647-8. The police came early Saturday morning, January 15, 1994 and then left when they were told that everything was ok. XXV2647-8. Mr. Anderson was very upset and kept saying "that Keinya had the boy to shoot at him." XXVIII2649. She claimed that he said "I'm going to be in prison, but somebody going to be dead, I betcha that." XXVIII2649.

Mrs. Anderson explained how the sexual activity was reported.

Now, isn't it true, Mrs. Anderson, that at that point this finally did come to the attention of the authorities, Charles was in a drug rehabilitation program....

A Yes.

Q And you knew for many years Charles had a problem with cocaine?

A Yes.

Q And that had been a problem that also affected your family, is that correct?

A Yes.

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