IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES ANDERSON,

CASE NO. 95,773

Appellant,

VS.

L.T. 94-15182 CF-10A

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

_____/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA DANIEL TRUE ANDREWS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Tallahassee, Florida

DEBRA RESCIGNO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Florida Bar No. 0836907 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard, Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

The trial court later denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial, noting that he had given both counsel a lot of leeway and that both of them had used analogies—defense counsel talked about biting his fingernails, riding over a curb, etc. (T 2318). Defense counsel noted that he understood the Court's ruling (T 2318).

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial based on this single, isolated comment by the prosecutor. See Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 382-83 (Fla. 1994) (motion for mistrial denied even though the prosecutor referred, in closing argument, to a fact that was not in evidence and that had been ruled inadmissible by the court; prosecutor's single comment that the victim was carrying a rifle around her house because she was afraid of the defendant did not deprive the defendant of a fair trial); Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So.2d 798, 803 (Fla. 1986) (comment

outside the evidence--that the defendant had a preference for death--was clearly improper, but standing alone or read in combination with other improper comments cannot be said to have unduly affected the jury's weighing process).

Unlike <u>Spencer</u> and <u>Pope</u>, the prosecutor's comment here was "fair reply" to defense counsel's argument that a guilty person would not voluntarily agree to speak with the police and consent to have his car searched. <u>See Parker v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1994) (no abuse of discretion in court's ruling that prosecutor's reference to defense theory as "fantasy" constituted fair comment or was invited by defense argument); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994) (defendant not deprived of fair trial by comments of prosecutor which were response to defense counsel's comments); <u>Vasquez v. State</u>, 635 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1994); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 367 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1979).

Further, even if deemed error, considering the evidence in this case, as outlined under Points I-V, it was harmless and could not have contributed to the jury's verdict. See State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984) (automatic reversal of a conviction on the basis of prosecutorial error is not warranted, unless the errors are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be considered harmless; the standard of review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.").

Appellant next argues that the cumulative effect of several

other comments made during closing argument (guilt phase) deprived him of a fair trial and that the cumulative effect of several comments made during penalty phase closing argument deprived him of a fair sentencing hearing. The State submits that the comments in question are procedurally barred because they were not preserved for appellate review, are not improper, or if improper, do not constitute fundamental error.

Appellant failed to preserve any of these allegedly improper comments for appellate review. The proper procedure to preserve review of an alleged improper comment is to object, request a curative instruction, and/or move for a mistrial. Kearse v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S507, --- So.2d ----, 2000 WL 854156 (Fla. June 29, 2000); Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994); cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 118 S. Ct. 213 (1997); Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 113 S. Ct. 1857 (1993).

Here, Appellant failed to object to any of the comments and did not move for a mistrial based on any of them. As such, he failed to preserve the alleged errors for appellate review. This Court has long held that absent a showing of fundamental error, the failure to object to an alleged improper comment bars review. See Brooks v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S417 (May 25, 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So.2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994); Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1994);

Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992).

"Fundamental error has been defined as the type of error which 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Delgado v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S79 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Urbin v. State, 714 So.2d 411, 418 n. 8 (Fla.1998)). See also Crump v. State, 622 So.2d 963, 972 (Fla.1993) (holding that since prosecutorial comments did not constitute fundamental error, absence of preservation of issue by defense counsel precluded appellate review); Pacifico v. State, 642 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

GUILT PHASE

The unpreserved comments in the guilt phase closing argument do not constitute fundamental error. Appellant alleges that the prosecutor made disparaging remarks about the defense (IB 55) when he stated:

[Defense counsel] would have you believe poor [Appellant] is just a victim of circumstance, everybody looked at him. Look away from [Appellant]. He would like to sort of shroud you in a fog, as we did every morning we came down here as we had to do our respective jobs to get up this week. As you are getting out on the road Monday or Tuesday, I don't know if you experienced it. I am looking and driving for more than twelve years. Yet when that fog is there, gosh, this doesn't look like my neighborhood, this doesn't look like the path I take every single day to get to work. Then as I get in on the fog, get up on objects, . . . now I can see it for what it is, as opposed to being enshrouded in fog every morning this

week.

(T 2269-70). The comment cannot reasonably be read as disparaging defense counsel. The prosecutor merely used an analogy to remind the jury to stay focused on the facts and to not be swayed by defense counsel's assertion that the circumstantial evidence did not constitute proof beyond a reasonable doubt. It was "fair reply" to defense counsel's suggestion that the jury should decide the case by taking every witness and item of evidence, separately, and seeing whether each piece, independently, established proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Defense counsel attacked each witness, separately, during his closing, arguing that because individual piece did not conclusively establish Appellant's quilt, there was not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Defense counsel never told the jury that circumstantial evidence must be viewed as a whole, but instead, focused on whether each circumstance was susceptible of two or more interpretations (T 2261-64). It was also "fair reply" to defense counsel's argument that Appellant was a victim of circumstance, unfairly targeted by the police.

Further, as the trial court noted, defense counsel was allowed to use analogies during his closing argument, including how he bit his nails as an innocent explanation for the blood in Appellant's car and how he ran over a concrete slab in a parking spot as an innocent explanation for the portions of the underside of Appellant's car being wiped free of grease (T 2318). Because

defense counsel used analogies in his closing, it was fair to allow the prosecutor to use some analogies. Finally, in rebuttal, defense counsel responded to the comment by attacking the prosecutor—stating that the prosecutor was trying sway the jury with emotion, by personalizing the case because he is a likeable fellow and was trying to win over the jury (T 2304).

Similarly, the prosecutor did not shift the burden of proof (IB 56) when he explained to the jury, again by using the analogy of an aircraft carrier, how circumstantial evidence fits together to become proof beyond a reasonable doubt. As already noted, defense counsel did not explain to the jury that circumstantial evidence should be considered as a whole. Instead, his strategy was to take each witness, separately, and attack his/her testimony, arguing that the circumstantial evidence did not rise to proof beyond a reasonable doubt because no single piece of evidence was a "smoking gun." The prosecutor rebutted that argument by reminding the jury, via the analogy of an aircraft carrier, that the circumstantial evidence must be viewed together, as a whole:

When you look at things individually and think it is quite innocent to attack each and every one of them, it is like divided you fall and are conquered and together you are strong.

My son loves aircraft carriers. Every time the JFK is here in Port Everglades we have to go down to see it. I was reminded as [defense counsel] was talking about "[w]ell, I went through every single witness, all twenty-seven of them and I attack each one, so that is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt." But if you

look at it this way, I think you will see how it all fits together.

[The aircraft carrier is] anchored by a rope, that has a strand wrapped around a strand wrapped around a strand; and if you take the time and you start sawing, saw one and it pops, saw another one it pops, but the reason it is done that way is so that you have to go through every single one in order to break that ship free.

This case is similar in that fashion.

(T 2273-74). The prosecutor was explaining to the jury, in an interesting way that he thought the jurors would understand, how circumstantial evidence must be considered as a whole and how it builds, layer upon layer, to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt. It is a mischaracterization to say that the prosecutor's comment shifted the burden of proof. Further, defense counsel came back in rebuttal and explained very clearly that he had no burden of proof, that only the state had a burden of proof and again gave the jury his explanation of circumstantial evidence (T 2305-06). Defense counsel also told the jury a story about when his 14 year-old son was young how he used to think he could change red lights to green by saying "change to green," (T 2310) to explain to the jury that "coincidence" does not constitute proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

Likewise, the prosecutor did not put the onus on the defense to prove or disprove anything during his discussion about the verdict forms (IB 58). The prosecutor explained to the jury that it would have four (4) choices on the verdict form (T 2281-83).

Choice "A" if it found the Appellant guilty of first-degree murder and the prosecutor explained the three ways that it could prove that (T 2281-82). The prosecutor then noted that choice "D" went without explanation. "If you find that I didn't prove anything to you, then mark that box." (T 2283). This comment cannot reasonably be read as putting any onus on the defense. It makes no explicit or implicit reference to the defense and is clearly talking about the state's burden. The comment was basically a generalized way of saying that if the state hadn't met its burden of proof, the jury should find Appellant not guilty. Again, during rebuttal, defense counsel made it clear that only the State had the burden of proof and that it had failed to meet that burden in this case.

Similarly, the prosecutor did not shift the burden to the defense to prove that there were "probable" doubts regarding the case (IB 58). Again, the prosecutor's comments do not make any mention of the defense and do not assert that it has to prove or disprove anything. Rather, the prosecutor's comments were "fair reply" to defense counsel's argument that there were other possible explanations for the incriminating evidence. For example, regarding defense counsel's assertion that the swipe mark on the bottom of the front driver door was "possibly" caused by one of the detectives wiping his hand across it during the search, the prosecutor asked the jury whether that was "probable." (T 2290). The prosecutor went through the other incriminating evidence and

asked if defense counsel's "possible" innocent explanation was probable (T 2290-91). Defense counsel came back on rebuttal and again argued that the circumstantial evidence was insufficient because each individual piece had other "possible" explanations, there was no proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant's allegation that the prosecutor engaged in personal epithets (IB 57) is also without merit. Rebutting defense counsel's argument that Appellant had been honest and forthright with the police, the prosecutor noted that Appellant did not tell the police, who responded to the 911 hang-up, that he had punched Keinya in the head or that he had followed Patrick Allen home and been shot at. Appellant also lied to Detective Thomasevich, denying that he lived at the marital home. The prosecutor also pointed to the fact that Appellant was concerned whether the police had spoken to Troy Vernon, the next-door neighbor and asked him what the police had asked about Appellant. He then noted that criminals generally get caught when they start opening their mouths:

It is a good thing that all criminals aren't as smart as Albert Einstein. I suggest to you we would never get convictions. They are like fish. They only get caught when they start to open their mouth. "I have nothing to hide."

(T 2270-73).

This comment cannot reasonably be read as likening Appellant to an animal, as Appellant suggests. The prosecutor was rebutting

defense counsel's repeated assertion that Appellant's innocence was shown by the fact that he had been candid and forthright with the police. The prosecutor pointed out that Appellant had not been candid and that his questioning of Troy Vernon, the fact that he was worried enough to open his mouth and ask Troy what the police wanted to know about Appellant, evidenced his guilt.

Appellant next argues that the prosecutor trivialized the case and suggested to the jury that it could convict Appellant based on his propensity by telling them a story about how his mother always knew it was him stealing the sugar cookies out of the cookie jar and not his brothers or sisters (IB 57-58) (T 2279-80). Again, the prosecutor was explaining how circumstantial evidence works to the jury. His mother was able to narrow down who had been in the sugar cookies by knowing that he was the one who loved sugar cookies. She then combined that fact with the fact that he would always forget to clean up the crumbs on the floor, to determine that he had taken the sugar cookies. The prosecutor explained that circumstantial evidence works the same way, you take the facts that you know and couple them together (T 2281). Defense counsel came back on rebuttal and ridiculed the story, telling the jury that the story did not prove this case (T 2310-11).

Likewise, the prosecutor's comment to the jury about having to take the case as it comes (IB 59), was not improper. Again, it was "fair reply" to defense counsel's assertion that the witnesses,

specifically the eyewitnesses and experts should not be believed because of differences or variations in their testimony and because they could not positively identify the car, fiber, coils, etc. The prosecutor noted that he doesn't get to select how the crime occurs and who is there witness it, only Appellant does (T 2298). The prosecutor further noted that the fact that the eyewitnesses couldn't say positively that it was Appellant's car or that he was behind the wheel doesn't make him any less guilty (T 2299).

Finally, the prosecutor's story about a riddle posed to him by a neighborhood child was not improper. Again, Appellant has mischaracterized what the prosecutor said. The prosecutor did not tell the jury to not over-analyze the evidence and instead, base its verdict on the fact that Appellant was the only person with a motive to kill Keinya (IB 60). The point of the story was for the jury to "see [the evidence] for what it was." (T 2302). Defense counsel used his own "riddle" during rebuttal to show the jury how "dangerous" circumstantial evidence is (T 2311-12).

In sum, all of the unpreserved comments are procedurally barred because Appellant failed to object and has failed to demonstrate that any of them constitute fundamental error. The prosecutor's closing argument, taken as a whole, was not overly emotional or intended to arouse the jury's passions. Rather, it was a dispassionate account of what the evidence showed. Any isolated comments that may be improper do not constitute

fundamental error given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, as outlined under Points I-V. The comments, either individually or combined with the one objected to comment, do not constitute fundamental error.

PENALTY PHASE

The unpreserved comments made during the penalty phase also do not constitute fundamental error. The prosecutor began his closing argument by acknowledging the gravity of the situation and the enormous responsibility that had been placed in the jurors' hands (T 3152-53). He mentioned that there are times in all of our lives when we have to do something that is unpleasant or make a difficult decision and that this was one of those times:

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